73195-5

73195-5

FILED
Feb 26, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

No. 73195-5-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE

WARREN E. BOHON,

Appellant,

v.

CITY OF STANWOOD,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Michele Earl-Hubbard, WSBA #26454
Allied Law Group
P.O. Box 33744
Seattle, WA 98133
Phone (206) 443-0200
Fax: (206) 428-7169



Attorneys for Appellant

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Trial court committed reversible error when it

(a) Considered and relied upon unsigned declarations filed by Defendant Movant City of Stanwood in support of the City's Motion for Summary Judgment;

(b) denied Appellant Warren Bohon's Motion to Continue the improperly noticed hearing on the City's Motion for Summary Judgment,

(c) denied Mr. Bohon's request to present argument and sworn declarations and other relevant and admissible evidence in his possession at the February 5, 2015, hearing of the summary judgment motion, including the introduction of portions of Mr. Bohon's depositions that had been omitted by Defendant City of Stanwood in its Motion for Summary Judgment filings;

(d) failed to perform an on-the-record consideration of the **Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance** factors prior to excluding Mr. Bohon's proffered evidence and declarations in opposition to summary judgment;

(e) granted summary judgment to the Defendant City at the February 5, 2015, hearing, on all of Mr. Bohon's claims.

II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The issues are follows:

- Whether the trial court should have excluded and not relied upon two unsigned declarations filed by Defendant Movant City of Stanwood in support of the City's Motion for Summary Judgment;
- Whether the trial court should have granted Appellant Warren Bohon's Motion to Continue the improperly noticed hearing on the City's Motion for Summary Judgment;
- Whether the trial court should have allowed Mr. Bohon to present argument and sworn declarations and other relevant and admissible evidence in his possession at the February 5, 2015, hearing of the summary judgment motion, including the introduction of portions

of Mr. Bohon's depositions that had been omitted by Defendant City of Stanwood in its Motion for Summary Judgment filings;

- Whether the trial court abused its discretion when it failed to perform an on-the-record consideration of the **Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance** factors prior to excluding Mr. Bohon's proffered evidence and declarations in opposition to summary judgment;
- Whether construing all facts and inferences in the light most favorable to the Plaintiff non-movant, the trial court erred in granting summary judgment to the Defendant City at the February 5, 2015, hearing, on all of Mr. Bohon's claims, after barring Mr. Bohon from presenting any evidence or argument.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Work History and Termination.

Appellant Warren Bohon began working as a Code Enforcement Officer for the City of Stanwood in 1992. **CP 440**. At the time he was 59 years old. **Id.** At that time, he had already earned two college degrees. He had also served for four years in the United States Marine Corp rising to the level of a non-commissioned officer, squad leader and tank commander, and earning a Korean War campaign ribbon and Good Conduct metal. He had more than forty years of prior private sector experience prior to being hired by Stanwood, most recently having served for 30 consecutive years with a major oil company.

Mr. Bohon worked for the City of Stanwood from 1992 to January 2006—13 years—receiving favorable performance evaluations and without any prior disciplinary actions. Mr. Bohon discovered fraud by

two City employees catching them fabricating readings on water meters of customers to avoid working to read meters and understating readings of water usage for properties with which the readers were personally connected to reduce water payments owed. **Appendix A hereto, Warren Bohon 1/29/16 Declaration at ¶5.** He reported these findings promptly to management acting as a whistleblower. **Id.**; see also **CP 64-128, 139-142.** He also uncovered evidence of City employees drinking on the job, including while operating City vehicles, and the City's violation of state, federal and local laws requiring the giving of preference to military veterans, and the requirement to post for public bid all City jobs so that employees and members of the public could bid for such positions, and to hire the most qualified applicants. **Appendix A hereto, Warren Bohon 1/29/16 Declaration at ¶5; CP 64-128, 139-142.** Mr. Bohon reported the City's violations of these laws and the employee on-the-job drinking to City management, drawing attention to acts of favoritism and nepotism by City officials, including the hiring of a former City Councilperson Les Anderson, who had no military service, for a position for which Mr. Anderson had inadequate experience and qualifications, and the passing over of other more qualified applicants for the position, as well as the repeated failure of the City to post jobs for bid by current employees and

members of the public. **Appendix A Bohon 1/29/16 Decl. at ¶5; CP 64-128, 139-142.**

In the Spring of 2005, Mr. Bohon also coordinated a meeting of several concerned and aggrieved employees with a personnel committee to report acts of workplace harassment of female and older employees, public disparagement and ridicule of employees by supervisors, employee on-the-job drinking and safety violations, and the repeated failure to properly post jobs or honor veteran preferences required by law or to hire the most qualified candidates. The allegations were so striking and pervasive that the City scheduled a workplace Needs Assessment by Sound Employment Solutions and interviewed employees, including Mr. Bohon, in the summer of 2005, and Sound Employment Solutions held a formal workplace training as a result entitled “Understanding Discrimination, Harassment and Retaliation” in October 2005, and on November 14, 2005, issued formal Employee Expectations for managers Les Anderson and Bill Beckman identifying areas they each needed to improve. **Appendix B.**¹

¹ Appendix B contains records produced in discovery in this case which Mr. Bohon had with him to present, and sought to present, at the February 5, 2015, summary judgment hearing and was denied the right to do so by the trial court. They contain documentation of the Needs Assessment performed by Sound Employment Solutions in the Spring of 2005, the training performed in October 2005 along with the sign in sheet, and the formal “Expectations” issued by Sound Employment Solutions to supervisors Anderson and Beckman in November 2005.

On December 1, 2005, Mr. Bohon sent a written memo to his supervisor Stephanie Hansen and the incoming Mayor Dianne White. **CP 139-142.** The memo sought “all protections afforded a “Whistleblower” provided in Federal, State and City laws” and reported on the meeting Bohon had coordinated with other aggrieved employees and the Personnel Committee in the Spring of 2005. **Id.**

On December 13, 2005, Mr. Bohon sent a handwritten memo to Ms. Hansen reporting illegal actions and retaliation against himself for reporting it earlier. **CP 145-149.**

The City claims—in an unsigned Declaration—that it orally instructed Mr. Bohon on November 30, 2005, to move from an office he held in the Public Works Building, where he had worked efficiently and without incident for 13 years, to a desk in City Hall. The sole support for this claimed instruction is a declaration purporting to be from Stephanie Hansen but **the filed declaration was not signed** (CP 391). The unsigned Hansen Declaration references an Exhibit B as this supposed notice, but Exhibit B to the Hansen Declaration is not a notice of any kind to Mr. Bohon but instead purports to be a memo from Ms. Hansen to William “Bill” Beckman “wondering” if Mr. Bohon’s workspace could be moved to City Hall at some point. See **CP 399.** The City did not file, or serve, a

signed declaration for Ms. Hansen, nor any November 2005 notice to Mr. Bohon to move his workspace, nor any earlier notice to Mr. Bohon.

On December 20, 2005, the City claims through the unsigned Hansen Declaration that Ms. Hansen issued a memo to then-Stanwood Mayor Herb Kuhnly recommending termination of Mr. Bohon. **CP 426-427.** The declaration purporting to authenticate this document was not signed. **CP 391.** The memo recommended termination claiming Mr. Bohon remained at work after his work was completed—allegedly loitering—for purposes of organizing other employees to report workplace grievances, that he made statements that “are intended or could reasonably be expected to damage the integrity or reputation of the City or our employees” based on his whistleblower reports of illegal activities of officials and employees, and finally for alleged insubordination for the alleged refusal to move to a desk at City Hall. The memo claimed Mr. Bohon

has organized at least one off-hours meeting and engaged with Public Works employees and city counsel members in order to discredit and undermine the work efforts and reputations Mr. [William] Bill Beckman, City Administrator/Public Works Director, and Mr. Les Andersen, Public Works Supervisor. He has made several written and verbal unsubstantiated and/or false derogatory statements intending to damage the integrity of these two persons and to undermine their supervisory authority.

CP 426. The memo was referring to meetings Mr. Bohon organized with aggrieved employees to report their workplace grievances to the Personnel Committee of City Council members which led to the Needs Assessment discussed above and in Appendix B, and Mr. Bohon's whistleblower complaints documenting fraud and illegal behavior by the City and City employees and officials.

After the above actions by Mr. Bohon, and only after the above actions by Mr. Bohon, did City management order Mr. Bohon to vacate his office in the Public Works Building where he had worked for 13 years without incident to a desk at City Hall next to and under the eye and arm of those about whom he had just reported and away from those he had recently organized to report their concerns to the Personnel Committee. Mr. Bohon protested the ordered move seeing it as an act of retaliation and sabotage, to ensure he had difficulty performing his job duties by placing him with those about whom he had just blown the whistle.

Within a month, the City fired Mr. Bohon, after 13 years on the job with favorable performance evaluations, allegedly for the refusal to move from his office in the Public Works Building to a desk at City Hall.

The Declaration purportedly by the Mayor who fired him, Dianne White, is also **unsigned**, and no signed copy was ever filed or served. **CP**

350. The exhibits to the purported White Declaration are also thus not authenticated. **Id.**

The City hired a man aged 56 years of age to replace Mr. Bohon, as the replacement himself stated. **CP 344** at ¶ 3. The replacement was thus 17 years younger than Mr. Bohon, who was 72 years old when he was fired. The City did not provide any details of the replacement’s qualifications or experience, nor explain why someone 17 years younger and decades away from retirement was not “significantly” younger than Mr. Bohon who was then 72.

Mr. Bohon timely filed a federal lawsuit, which was dismissed without prejudice, and timely replaced by this current action. He withdrew money from his retirement savings to pay lawyers to represent him on the case, but each withdrew after conflicts of interest or scheduling conflicts arose with their other caseloads. He proceeded pro se, making diligent attempts to secure new counsel, for significant portions of the case. In December 2014, Mr. Bohon remained pro se.

B. Stanwood’s Motion for Summary Judgment:

On December 19, 2014, six days before Christmas, the City of Stanwood filed a Note for Hearing for a Summary Judgment Motion seeking a hearing on January 16, 2015, exactly 28 calendar days’ later. **CP 17-18.** The City did not determine whether Mr. Bohon was available

on this date and did not warn him of its intent to file such a motion that month. On December 19, 2014, the City attempted to serve the Notice and accompanying Motion and supporting declarations on Mr. Bohon at his home in Camano Island by legal messenger, but its messenger reported such service was not successful as there was “no answer at door, no noise inside, no movement inside and no lights” during each of the six attempts on December 19, 20, 21, 22 and 26, 2014. **CP 36.** The failure to serve Mr. Bohon in person on December 19, 2014, meant that the hearing on January 16, 2015, could not lawfully have gone forward as the Plaintiff had not been afforded the required 28 calendar days’ notice required by CR 56(c). Despite this failure to serve Mr. Bohon by messenger, the City of Stanwood continued its efforts to have its summary judgment motion heard on January 16, 2015, without highlighting to the trial court the fact Mr. Bohon had not timely been served. The City’s attorney Jayne Freeman claimed she had sent an email to Mr. Bohon with the materials at an email she had exchanged communications with Mr. Bohon in the distant past, but Ms. Freeman did not reveal that she and Mr. Bohon had never entered into an email service agreement and that she could not establish whether Mr. Bohon had actually received any emailed copies. She further did not reveal that the purported “mail” service going out on December 19, 2014, did not provide sufficient notice, nor that the package

had been left unattended with signature waived by the City on Mr. Bohon's unsecured front porch on December 20, 2014, rather than in his mailbox, when the City knew from its messenger that no one had been at the residence from December 19, 2014 to December 26, 2014. **CP 39** (Showing package left on porch and not mailbox), **CP 41** (express mail form showing signature was waived by sender), **CP 36** (Affidavit of Non-Delivery showing no one present at home from December 19-26, 2014).

Mr. Bohon has confirmed in a sworn declaration that he never received the mailed package allegedly left on his unattended front porch on December 20, 2014, as he was out of town for several days over the holidays and that the package was not present when he returned home after the holidays. **Warren Bohon Decl., filed 1/29/16 at ¶¶ 9-11, attached hereto as Appendix A.**

Two key purported declarations upon which the trial court relied in granting summary judgment to the City—that of Stephanie Hansen who allegedly ordered Mr. Bohon to relocate his office and that of the Mayor Dianne White who fired Mr. Bohon—were not signed, and signed copies were never filed or served. **CP 350, 391.**

Despite failing to timely serve Mr. Bohon with the Notice, Motion, and declarations, the City and Ms. Freeman still sought to have the hearing held on January 16, 2015, and Ms. Freeman filed a new declaration on

January 9, 2015, claiming to have served Mr. Bohon on December 19, 2014 by email and by mail on December 20, 2014 (a day too late), and falsely claiming that the Motion and Declarations and Note for Motion was “delivered by a process service to his residence” on December 19, 2014. **CP 9 at ¶4 line 19** (1/9/15 Freeman Decl.). The Declaration of Non-Service Ms. Freeman had received by that date, and which she attached to her January 9, 2015 Declaration showed Mr. Bohon had **not** been served by messenger because the messenger documented that he had tried for six days from December 19, 2014 to December 26, 2014, but that each time there was “no answer at door, no noise inside, no movement inside and no lights.” **CP 36** (showing attempted deliveries on December 19, 20, 21, 22 and 26, 2014).

Ms. Freeman attached to her January 9, 2015 Declaration the face sheet and certificate of service page of the Motion and Declarations but not the remainder the pages. **CP 8-11, 17-34**. This declaration was served by mail going out on January 9, 2014, and again signature of the recipient was waived by the City, but this time the Post Office confirmed the package was placed in Mr. Bohon’s mailbox, rather than his unattended front porch (**CP 487**), so Mr. Bohon at least received word the City was trying to hold a hearing of some kind on January 16, 2015. Mr. Bohon called the trial court and informed it he could not appear at a hearing on

that date as he was staying with his girl friend in another City caring for her following her surgery. The hearing was to be continued to the week of January 27, 2015, but the docket shows Ms. Freeman never filed a new Note for Motion for that date, and in her January 30, 2015, Declaration (**CP 475-76**), she states she failed to confirm such hearing and it was canceled by the trial court (without revealing she failed to file the Note for Motion at all). See **CP 475-76**. Mr. Bohon was told by the trial court that the January 27, 2015, hearing was being stricken as it had not been confirmed. **CP 476**. Freeman then filed a Note for Motion on January 27, 2015, seeking a hearing just nine days later. **CP 481-82**. Ms. Freeman served this Note by mail on Mr. Bohon sending it out two day mail on January 27, 2015 (**CP 487-89**) despite her sworn statement on the Note claiming it was mailed on January 26, 2015. **CP 481-82**. The delivery confirmation confirms the envelope was delivered on January 28, 2015—just eight days before the hearing—and left in Mr. Bohon’s mailbox. **CP 487**.

The City admits it did not re-serve the motion for summary judgment or any of the declarations, relying solely on its mailing of materials left unattended on Mr. Bohon’s unsecured front porch on December 20, 2014, despite its messenger’s affidavit confirming Mr.

Bohon was not at home that day or for at least five days' thereafter. **CP 36, 39.**

In the eight days' notice afforded to him before the February 5, 2015 hearing, Mr. Bohon pulled together signed sworn declarations of persons who had worked with him at the City, including a former City Councilman Erik Abrahamson who had attended his termination hearing, and former co-workers Jerry Fure and Randall Richard—(those three declaration are attached hereto as **Appendix C**)—and an additional box full of other opposition materials to preclude summary judgment to the City. **Bohon 1/29/16 Decl. at ¶12, attached as App. A hereto.** Mr. Bohon came to the hearing with a witness willing to testify and several signed declarations of witnesses and his opposition. **Id.** He asked to present those materials and to be heard in opposition to the summary judgment motion. **Id.** He asked for a continuance to allow him to file those materials with sufficient time before the hearing. **CP 65** (Minute Order on 2/5/15 Hearing acknowledging the request for a continuance and denial of same.) The trial court had not been informed that Ms. Freeman had not served the Note for Motion until eight days' before the hearing contrary to her certificate of service, nor that Ms. Freeman's sole delivery to Mr. Bohon of the motion and declarations had been a package left unattended on a unsecured porch at a residence where the City knew from

its messenger that no one had been present at the home that day or for at least five days thereafter. The trial court instead had been told by Ms. Freeman, falsely, in a January 30, 2015, Declaration that the matters were “served ... by various means on December 19, 2014.” **CP 475 at ¶ 2.**

Ms. Freeman was aware when she made that declaration that Mr. Bohon had not been served by **any** means on December 19, 2014, and that the sole delivery had been left on his unattended porch on December 20, 2014, at a home that was vacant that day and for a week thereafter. The trial court had been told by Ms. Freeman that she had mailed the records to Mr. Bohon earlier than Ms. Freeman’s records show she actually mailed them. And Ms. Freeman suggested service had been effected by messenger, without revealing that the December 2014 messenger efforts had been unsuccessful, and that no subsequent messenger attempts included the summary judgment motion or declarations. This trial judge, who was deprived of all of the above relevant facts, refused to let Mr. Bohon argue or be heard, even to explain the lack of service and receipt, refused to accept Mr. Bohon’s submissions, denied Mr. Bohon’s motion for continuance, and signed the City’s Proposed Order declaring, with no findings, that the City was “entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” **CP 5-7.** The City had not requested that the hearing be recorded and so the sole basis for the summary judgment dismissal is the Order the City

drafted, which contains no findings and no explanation, and the bare statement only that the City was “entitled to judgment as a matter of law.”

Id.

This appeal followed. A Commissioner of this Court granted an extension to today to newly-retained counsel to file this Brief of Appellant.

IV. LEGAL AUTHORITY AND ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

1. Summary Judgment

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