No. 73195-5-I

COURT OF APPEALS SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WARREN E. BOHON,

Plaintiff,

vs.

CITY OF STANWOOD,

Defendant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Jayne L. Freeman, WSBA #24318 Keating, Bucklin & McCormack, Inc., P.S. 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4141 Seattle, WA 98104-3175 Attorney for Defendant City of Stanwood

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Plaintiff Was Properly Served With the City's Motion for Summary Judgment Nearly Seven Weeks Before the Hearing.

CR 56 requires 28 days notice before a Motion for Summary Judgement is heard; Plaintiff had nearly seven weeks. With knowledge of the February 2, 2015 trial date and multiple notices that the City would be filing a Motion prior to trial, Plaintiff could have filed a notice of

issues); November 30, 2015 (unusually complex corruption case requires more time); January 29, 2015 (found an attorney who will write brief if only court grants another continuance). This is similar to the circumstances under which Plaintiff retained the prior three attorneys.

unavailability with the Court and/or he could have informed the City that he would be unavailable on certain dates in the near term. He did neither. Nor has he ever issued a Notice of Change of Address in the decade this matter has been litigated. As a pro se, his home address is also his office.

The City filed its summary judgment motion on December 19, 2015; however, it was not argued or ruled upon until February 5, 2015, the week the trial was supposed to begin. The City went to great lengths to provide Plaintiff with notice of the summary judgment motion and related pleadings *in every conceivable way*—precisely to avoid the type of arguments Plaintiff continues to make today. Only now, for the first time, does Plaintiff claim the City did not provide him with the requisite 28 day notice pursuant to CR 56. Even assuming validity of any of Plaintiff's arguments, the appropriate remedy would simply be for the court to grant a continuance of the summary judgment hearing, which occurred here—twice. See, *Cole v. Red Lion*, 92 Wn. App. 743, 969 P.2d 481 (1998) (CR 56 notice requirement of 28 days applies to the date on which the hearing actually occurs). The remaining service arguments are, therefore, moot.

1. Plaintiff Was Properly Served by Legal Messenger on December 19, 2014.

Plaintiff was properly and timely served with the City's summary judgment materials by way of legal messenger on December 19, 2014. See, CR 5(b)(1). Had Plaintiff at any point notified the City that he claimed to have not received the pleadings, the City could have re-served him. Having never raised this issue in the trial Court, however, the

Defendant was deprived of any opportunity to serve Plaintiff even more times to avoid this recently asserted claim. Plaintiff waived this objection by not raising it below.

"Washington courts... have held that substantial compliance may be sufficient to satisfy procedural notice requirements if the other party has actual notice or if the service was reasonably calculated to give notice to the other party." Wilson v. Olivetti N. Am., Inc., 85 Wn.App. 804, 810, 934 P.2d 1231 (1997) (citing In re Saltis, 94 Wn.2d 889, 896, 621 P.2d 716 (1980)), review denied, 133 Wn.2d 1017 (1997) (emphasis added). Substantial compliance requires some level of actual compliance with the essential substance of a rule, even though a procedural fault renders the compliance imperfect. Clymer v. Emp't Sec. Dep't, 82 Wn.App. 25, 28–29, 917 P.2d 1091 (1996). Compliance in a manner that does not fulfill the objective of the rule cannot constitute substantial compliance. Petta, 68 Wn.App. at 409–10.

Here, the legal messenger left the summary judgment materials at plaintiff's residence on December 19, 2014 — 28 days before the initial hearing was set and 48 days before the Motion was ultimately ruled upon. See, Appendix A. Though Plaintiff now disputes actual notice, the service was reasonably calculated to give notice to Mr. Bohon and the requisite substantial compliance was achieved. This is the same address out of which he had been litigating this matter for most of the past nine years.

2. Plaintiff Was Also Served by Mail on December 22, 2014.

In addition to serving Plaintiff via messenger, the City also

served Plaintiff by U.S. mail. The City put the summary judgment documents to Plaintiff in the outgoing mail on December 19, 2014 and this additional service attempt became effective on December 22, 2014. CP 39. Plaintiff concedes the mailbox rule renders service effective three days after mailing. Plaintiff, however, now contends that the mailman should have left the package in the mailbox as opposed to on his porch and that he never received the documents. No authority suggests a party must dictate how the U.S. Postal Service conducts its delivery.

Plaintiff also now claims that he has defeated the rebuttable presumption created by the "mailbox rule." The City acknowledges that proof of mailing raises only a *presumption* of receipt, and that the presumption is rebuttable. However, even if the City had not effected service by messenger, mail service was effected – at the latest – on December 22, 2014. Return receipts confirm the documents were delivered to his residence on December 20, 2014. CP 39.

While Plaintiff now argues that the mail service *would have* afforded him less than the requisite 28 days' notice, they did not—it is undisputed that Plaintiff <u>did</u> have much more than 28 days to file something with the court before the February 5th hearing. Plaintiff directly contacted the Court requesting a continuance and the hearing was ultimately continued to February 5, 2015—45 days after service and the week the trial had been set for the *third* time. The mail service method became effective 53 days before the actual summary judgment hearing occurred.

3. The City (As a Courtesy) Also Served Plaintiff by Email.

The City never suggested there was a "formal" email service agreement between the parties. The email service of the documents was simply a courtesy to Plaintiff and yet another measure taken to ensure Mr. Bohon knew the pleadings were coming and could access the materials in multiple forms which he had been properly served with on 12/19 (by legal messenger) and again on 12/22 (by mail), as this had been the most recent method of communication Plaintiff had chosen for corresponding with counsel when re-noting the trial date.

B. The Trial Court Was Not Required to Engage in a *Burnet* Analysis Regarding Unfiled Documents.

Plaintiff relies on *Keck v. Collins*, 184 Wn.2d 358 (September 24, 2014) for the proposition that a trial court must consider the factors from *Burnet* on the record before excluding untimely disclosed evidence in the context of a summary judgment hearing. He suggests the Court denied his right to present declarations "and other admissible evidence" at the February 5th hearing. Assign. of error (c).

As a threshold matter, the summary judgment hearing and ruling in this case occurred on February 5, 2015. The *Keck* decision upon which Plaintiff so heavily relies was issued on September 24, 2015 — more than seven months *after* the hearing at issue in this case; neither the parties nor the court could have known this new theory may eventually develop. No case law pre-dating February 5, 2015 (the date of the summary judgment hearing) would have notified either the court or the parties that the *Burnet*

analysis might apply to untimely evidence a litigant never files but simply brings to a summary judgment hearing. Plaintiff's plea for application of case law that post-dates the hearing in this case should be rejected.

Significantly, even if the *Keck* rule were in place at the time of the summary judgment hearing in this case, application of the *Burnet* factors here would have yielded the same result—exclusion of the documents and/or disregarding them in the summary judgment analysis.

In *Keck*, the plaintiff filed a medical malpractice case against two doctors in which liability turned on the applicable standard of care. The doctors' motion argued plaintiff lacked a qualified medical expert who could provide testimony to establish her claim. In response to the motion plaintiff *filed* two timely affidavits and one untimely affidavit from her medical expert prior to the hearing. The trial court granted the defendant doctors' motion to strike the untimely affidavit and granted summary judgment for the doctors. The Court of Appeals reversed, holding the court should have considered the untimely affidavit. The Washington State Supreme Court held that an order striking untimely evidence at summary judgment requires a *Burnet* analysis and is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Specifically, the Court held:

While our cases have required the Burnet analysis only when severe sanctions are imposed for discovery violations, we conclude that the analysis is equally appropriate when the trial court excludes untimely evidence submitted in response to a summary judgment motion.

Keck, 184 Wn.2d at 369.

The *Burnet* factors (traditionally and typically applied in the discovery context) include: whether a lesser sanction would probably suffice, whether the violation was willful or deliberate, and whether the violation substantially prejudiced the opposing party. *Jones v. City of Seattle*, 179 Wn.2d 322, 338, 314 P.3d 380 (2013). In applying those factors in this case, the box of documents Plaintiff claims he brought to the hearing should not have been considered.

Consideration of a lesser sanction. The Burnet factors should be viewed in light of Mr. Bohon's history of incredible and intentional delay in this case. As outlined above, Plaintiff had a long history of retaining attorneys for a limited purpose only to later rely on their withdrawals as an excuse to demand multiple trial and other continuances. Allowing Plaintiff to submit a miscellaneous heap of documents to the court on the day of the summary judgment hearing would have only further (and unjustifiably) delayed this case in which trial was supposed to start that week. If the case had not already been delayed and re-set for trial numerous times due to Plaintiff's repeated requests for continuance, perhaps a lesser "sanction" would be appropriate.

Willful or Deliberate. The evidence in this case further supports that Plaintiff's actions in not filing any response to the City's Motion over the seven weeks it was pending—while simultaneously failing to ever mention he never received the motion—was also willful and deliberate. While Plaintiff now argues on appeal he never actually received the City's motion and supporting declarations, his assertions are again belied by his

failure to notify anyone—including the Court—of that alleged fact, requesting a continuance due to a medical issue, and showing up to the hearing (right place and right time) with documents he now contends were responsive to the motion he had allegedly never seen. Plaintiff's documents were never filed, so neither the City nor the court ever had the opportunity to review and evaluate them, or to weigh factors related to admissibility. This Plaintiff is not the naïve, unfamiliar layperson that his newest attorney represents to the court; just ask his prior lawyers. See, CP 562-593 (Sullivan withdrawal dec.), CP 664-672 (Wishko withdrawal dec.). He continues to instead repeatedly assert the reason he cannot retain counsel and cannot move forward to trial is due to his own perceived "unusual complexity" of his case, see e.g. CP 659, and his serial inability to retain counsel, yet he also opposes efforts to effect dismissal.

Substantial Prejudice to the City. Finally, Plaintiff's failure to respond properly on summary judgment and in essence attempt to further delay the litigation would without a doubt have prejudiced the City. Because Plaintiff never served the City with the alleged new declarations and evidence, the City never had an opportunity to reply with, e.g., excerpts from Plaintiff's deposition that contradicted the assertions and evidence or legal and evidentiary argument to establish its immateriality. Litigation against the City had now been pending for more than ten years (including federal and state court litigation)—a never-ending carousel of strategic delays and maneuvers—and fair consideration of evidence would have required further delay. Here, the City never moved to strike any

documents offered by Plaintiff in the trial court; nothing was ever filed. Indeed, the first time counsel for the City ever saw them was this year with Plaintiff's final appeal. Continuing the summary judgment hearing yet again and adding more pleadings would have only allowed Plaintiff to continue to engage in his ongoing judicial filibuster. Even if the Court had engaged in a *Burnet* analysis, it would have reached the same decision.²²

C. Plaintiff Was Not Entitled to Yet Another Continuance in 2015.

Plaintiff claims the trial court erred in failing to continue the summary judgment hearing (again). The hearing was already continued from January 16 2.5 weeks to February 5, 2015. This gave Plaintiff nearly seven weeks total to file something with the court. He filed nothing. The February 2, 2015, trial date—continued three times on demand of Plaintiff—had already arrived. CP 555.

If, by affidavit, the nonmoving party states reasons why he or she cannot currently present evidence opposing summary judgment, the trial court "may order a continuance to permit affidavits to be obtained or depositions to be taken or discovery to be had or may make such other order as is just. CR 56(f). The trial court may deny the motion for continuance solely if "(1) the requesting party does not offer a good reason for the delay in obtaining the desired evidence; (2) the requesting party does not state what evidence would be established through the additional discovery; or (3) the desired evidence will not raise a genuine issue of

²² Unlike *Blair v. Ta-Seattle East No. 176*, 171 Wn.2d 342 (2011), the City never moved to strike pleadings as none were ever served or filed; thus the City was deprived of any opportunity to argue weighing of the *Burnet* factors.

material fact." *Tellevik*, 120 Wn.2d at 90, 838 P.2d 111 (quoting *Turner v. Kohler*, 54 Wn.App. 688, 693, 775 P.2d 474 (1989)).

Plaintiff never filed the requisite affidavit, nor has he ever taken a single deposition or otherwise sought or pursued additional discovery. He failed to offer any good reason for the delay in obtaining the desired (or any) evidence to oppose the City's motion.

Continuing the hearing again would have simply invited Plaintiff to continue to engage in the familiar delay tactics—likely requesting yet more time to find (yet another) attorney. See e.g. CP 284 (2014) ("I am certainly not a lawyer but I have subscribed to Gerry Spence's 'Warrior' Magazine for a considerable number of years. Jobs I have had required learning case law, and how to understand the workings of the law quite well, also having read almost all of the Gerry Spence's Books."); CP 659-660 (2012) (case is too complex for prior two attorneys; Plaintiff has been continually working to move this case forward and pledges to have case ready for trial by January 2013). He had already had more than an additional year (again) to retain new counsel and the third trial date had already arrived. The City would have been greatly and unfairly prejudiced. The City had waited long enough for a resolution of this case.

D. The Court Should Affirm Summary Judgment Dismissal Regardless of Plaintiff's Evidentiary/Procedural Objections.

Before the court reviews the Summary Judgment decision, it must determine what evidence is properly before it. *Keck, at* 368. Here, even if the court were to consider new evidence Plaintiff proffers and

reject evidence to which Plaintiff objects, summary judgment should still be affirmed based on admissible, material evidence.

1. Plaintiff Waived Any Objection to Unsigned Declarations; Summary Judgment Can Be Affirmed Absent Reference to These Declarations.

Where no objection or motion to strike is made prior to entry of summary judgment, a party is deemed to waive any deficiency in an affidavit. *Lamon v. McDonnell Douglas Corp.*, 91 Wash.2d 345, 352, 588 P.2d 1346 (1979); *Greer v. Northwestern Nat'l Ins. Co.*, 36 Wash.App. 330, 338, 674 P.2d 1257 (1984). Plaintiff never voiced or filed an objection to the affidavits at the hearing nor did he move to strike the declarations prior to the Court's entry of judgment--he raised this argument for the first time after a year on appeal. Thus, the City was precluded from immediately curing this clerical error. Plaintiff waived any alleged deficiency with regard to unsigned affidavits.

Nonetheless, even if the court disregards the Declarations of White and Hansen, the same evidence is also independently admitted into the record by virtue of Mr. Bohon's own deposition testimony and exhibits; thus, Plaintiff's arguments regarding these two declarations are immaterial. See, CP 64-172 (excerpts from Plaintiff's deposition and exhibits—all cites to pages of deposition testimony are cites to Plaintiff's 2013 deposition). Plaintiff's deposition and exhibits were cited throughout the trial Court motion. CP 439-462.

2. Even if the Court reviews Plaintiff's new evidence outside the record summary judgment is appropriate.

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